#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 20-0837

#### IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY CASE NO. CVCV058960

SIOUX CITY TRUCK SALES, INC., Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

## IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION and PETERBILT MOTORS COMPANY, Defendants-Appellees

#### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE JUDGE WILLIAM P. KELLY, PRESIDING

# PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

JEFFREY GOLDSTEIN (pro hac vice)
GOLDSTEIN LAW OFFICE

and

ANTHONY P. LAMB KLASS LAW FIRM, LLP 4280 SERGEANT ROAD, SUITE 290 SIOUX CITY, IA 51106 TELEPHONE: 712.252.1866

FACSIMILE: 712.252.5822

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT SIOUX CITY TRUCK SALES, INC.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 18, 2017, Peterbilt applied to the Iowa Department of Transportation ("IDOT") requesting permission to appoint Allstate as a new franchisee-dealer in the Clear Lake area. (App. 1551). On February 26, 2018, consistent with Iowa Code 322A.4 and 322A.16, a contested case hearing occurred before a Department of Inspection and Appeals ALJ. (App. 1552). During the hearing, SCTS presented convincing facts on a possible conspiracy between Peterbilt witnesses and the President of Allstate, Jeff Vathournout. The ALJ considered four primary issues: (1) the definition of "community"; (2) whether good cause existed to allow Peterbilt to appoint an additional dealer in Clear Lake; (3) whether an additional dealer is in the "public interest"; and (4) whether Peterbilt acted in good faith. (App. 1553). The ALJ found that the relevant community at issue was the "Clear Lake area" and not SCTS' entire Area of Responsibility, that good cause existed to allow Peterbilt to appoint an additional dealer, and that Peterbilt did not act in bad faith during the years it tried to get SCTS to open a dealership in the Clear Lake area.

SCTS sought appeal to the Director of the IDOT. On August 26, 2019, the IDOT issued the Decision, which found ALJ's Proposed Decision was correctly decided and supported by the record. (App. 1555). The

Department found that Sioux City's alteration argument and "community" argument had not been argued before the ALJ, and if considered, the community argument was unavailing because "only 23 counties were encompassed in the area for which Peterbilt sought approval for a new franchise," not Sioux City's entire "AOR." (App. 1556).

On September 25, 2019, SCTS filed a petition for judicial review before the Iowa District Court in and for Polk County. (Petition for Judicial Review) The district court affirmed the decision of the IDOT granting Peterbilt's request to appoint a new motor vehicle dealership franchise in Clear Lake, Iowa. On the issue of whether community refers to the entire AOR or the 23 counties that made up of the Clear Lake area, the district court stated that "community" when "viewed as a whole, refers to its entire 71 county AOR referenced in the Dealer Agreement." (App. 1570). Despite the explicit definition of "community" in § 322A.1, the district court concluded that modifiers such as "any" and "that," used to qualify "community," narrowed the scope of the word; and that for the purpose of evaluating the statutory good cause factors, "community" means the "Clear Lake" area. After consideration, the district court found the agency's interpretation of provisions of Chapter 322A was not "irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable." (App. 1588).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### I. Factual Background

Peterbilt is a truck manufacturer that distributes its products through a network of 55 dealership groups. (App. 1546). Sioux City Truck Sales ("SCTS") is one of such Peterbilt dealership groups, operating five locations across Iowa and Nebraska: Sioux City, Altoona, Council Bluffs, Lincoln and Norfolk. (App. 1546). Peterbilt and SCTS are engaged in a contractual franchise relationship, wherein Peterbilt is the franchiser and SCTS is the franchisee. (App. 1547). According to the terms of the contract (hereinafter "Dealer Agreement"), SCTS sells and services Peterbilt products in its assigned, nonexclusive area of responsibility ("AOR"). (App. 1546). The AOR for SCTS encompasses 71 Iowa counties. (App. 1546)

Bradley Wilson is the president and an owner of SCTS. He has been at the helm since 1994, with the business originally having been started by his father. (App. 1546) Over the course of their respective tenures, Bradley and his father directed SCTS to endeavor upon numerous capital projects in each and every one of the five locations. (App. 1546) In total, SCTS invested approximately \$25,000,000. (App. 1546)

Peterbilt has historically felt underrepresented by the size of its dealer network footprint vis-à-vis its competitors. (App. 1131) Peterbilt's scheme

to ameliorate the perceived deficiency started in 2010, when it developed the proprietary "MX 13" Engine. (App. 1131) Peterbilt tied the introduction of this new "MX 13" engine to a significant push on dealers to open new locations, to increase Peterbilt's marketing gravitas. (App. 1131). As a part of this push, Peterbilt proposed that SCTS develop additional, brand-new dealerships in both Lincoln and Clear Lake. (App. 1131) While deliberating the merits of a Clear Lake location, SCTS acted on Peterbilt's Lincoln recommendation and established a new dealership there. (App. 1366).

Rather than permitting good-faith efforts by dealers to engage in an independent analysis of how and whether to expand, Peterbilt leveraged their control over distribution to compel dealer acquiescence. Among Peterbilt's tools to accomplish this end was the White Spot Report ("WSR"). (App. 1131). Near the end of 2014, Peterbilt prepared a WSR and sent it to SCTS in an apparent effort to pressure them to open a Clear Lake dealership. (App. 1131) Although the WSR was capable of showing some crude relationship to generalized 'need' in a particular market, it was incapable of capturing many of the market realities that would be of concern to a dealer considering whether to expand. (App. 1131) Peterbilt's reliance on qualitative – rather than quantitative – factors, along with Peterbilt's failure to supplement the

WSR's conclusions with statistical data upon request, bears out the notion that the WSR was pretextual. (App. 1131).

Clear Lake is indeed located along the I-35 interstate highway. *Sioux* (App. 1547). The WSR provided by Peterbilt points out that Peterbilt trucks have a substantial presence on and around this highway. (App. 1547). However, WSR could not identify a single instance of feedback from Peterbilt's customers actually indicating the necessity – much less a demand – for additional dealers inside the SCTS AOR. At the hearing, Peterbilt admitted that the intent of the report is merely to identify "where there's an opportunity to provide service," acknowledging that there exists no absolute necessity for franchisees to fulfill unsatisfied market demand for a new dealer location. (App. 1162).

In June of 2016, Peterbilt met with Bradley Wilson and issued a threatening warning to SCTS; if SCTS did not take action to establish the additional dealer location in Clear Lake, Peterbilt would appoint another dealer to do so by "dual assigning" the area. (App. 1376) In his response, Wilson notified Peterbilt that SCTS was already "pursuing another location in Clear Lake," specifically for a parts-only store. (App. 1549).

Peterbilt had – until Wilson's – never once rejected a parts-only store proposal. (App. 1393). "I'm saying to my knowledge, a parts store has not

been rejected, to my knowledge." (App. 1393). At the time of Wilson's proposal, a parts-only proposal rejection would have defied longstanding corporate precedent. (App. 1393) Despite prior threats of dual-assignment, Peterbilt's reaction to Wilson's parts-only plan for Clear Lake implied an intent to make Wilson secure in the (wrongful) belief that his proposal would be handled good faith, the same as each prior parts-only proposal. (App. 1393). Crisp – who received the Clear Lake parts-only application – testified: "[Mr. Harrell] did not tell me outright to put it on hold. He did say he would circle back with me when he had more time to discuss it." (App. 1393). According to Crisp, "at that point the proposal wasn't rejected." (App. 1393)

On March 14, 2017, Peterbilt issued a cease and desist letter claiming SCTS was in "material breach of [the] dealer agreement" because of the "unauthorized new location." (App. 1550). Surprised, SCTS replied that it would remove the items and requested Peterbilt reconsider. (App. 1550) On April 18, 2017, Peterbilt issued a second cease and desist letter. (App. 1550). On May 4, 2017, SCTS reached out to Peterbilt and requested a status update on the Clear Lake parts-only proposal. (App. 1551). Peterbilt again refused to grant the proposal, citing ongoing violations connected to the unauthorized parts-only store. (App. 1551). SCTS responded, stating it

removed the unauthorized materials and again, asked to move forward with the parts and service location proposal to ameliorate Peterbilt's underlying demand concerns. (App. 1551). In reply, Peterbilt re-iterated their intent to engage in the first-ever instance of a parts-only proposal denial. (App. 1551).

#### **ERROR PRESERVATION**

The issues disputed herein were raised on appeal to the DOT, on Judicial Review, and this appeal was timely filed.

#### SCOPE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A district court engaged in judicial review under Iowa Code section 17A.19(8) acts in an appellate capacity to correct errors of law on the part of the agency. *IBP v. Al–Gharib*, 604 N.W.2d 621, 627 (Iowa 2000). When we review a district court's judicial review decision, we apply the standards of section 17A.19(8) to the agency action to determine whether this court's conclusions are the same as those of the district court. Here, the issue involves a matter of statutory construction. Therefore, the standard we apply is whether the agency's action is in violation of statutory provisions. See Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)(a) (1999). If we determine that the agency's action was contrary to relevant statutory provisions, we must reverse the district court's decision. See Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)." Holland Bros. Const. Co. v. Iowa State Bd. of Tax Review, 611 N.W.2d 495, 499 (Iowa 2000)

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The District Court erred by applying the Department's incorrect definition of "Community."

As a preliminary matter a review of the statutory framework is required. Iowa Code chapter 322A ("Chapter 322A" or "the Statute") is

Iowa's motor vehicle franchisers statute. The legislature passed the Statute to assure the public that motor vehicle franchisers would not, without good cause, terminate or discontinue dealerships or open additional dealerships in any Iowa community. *Beckman v. Carson*, 372 N.W.2d 203, 207 (Iowa 1985). The preamble to chapter 322 discloses that the statute was enacted "to provide for fair trade practices by motor vehicle franchisers." 1970 Iowa Acts ch. 1160, p. 206. *See* Iowa Code § 4.6 (1981) (in construing a statute we properly may consider its legislative history, including the object sought to be attained as reflected in the preamble or statement of policy. The Statute provides the exclusive legal provisions for motor vehicle franchise disputes. *See* Iowa Code §§ 523H.1(c); 537A.10(3). The IDOT administers, enforces, and regulates the Statute's provisions. *Id.* at § 307.27(6).

The legislature defined several relevant terms within Chapter 322A. Especially relevant to this case, "community" means "the franchisee's area of responsibility as stipulated in the franchise." Iowa Code § 322A.1(2). Drafters saw fit to include no subsections for the definition of "community." Additionally, a "franchise" refers to the contractual relationship "between two or more persons" meeting five requirement elements. *Id.* at § 322A.1(5)(a)(1)–(5). A "franchise" also includes separate written agreements entered into between those individuals or entities "which

materially affect[] the franchise." Id. at § 322A.1(5)(b). A "franchisee" is "a person who receives motor vehicles from the franchiser under a franchise and who offers and sells such motor vehicles to the general public." Id. at § 322A.1(6). A "franchiser" is "a person who manufactures or distributes motor vehicles and who may enter into a franchise as hereinafter defined." An "additional motor vehicle dealership" includes "a facility providing manufacturer-authorized or distributor-authorized service and warranty work for motor vehicles, except motor homes, of a line-make in a community in which the same line-make is represented." *Id.* at § 322A.1(1).

Iowa Code § 322A provides that a franchisee can object to four different types of conduct a franchiser may take. A franchiser may discontinue a franchise. *Id.* at § 322A.2. Second, a franchise may terminate a franchise. *Id.* Third, a franchiser may "alter a franchisee's community." *Id.* at § 322A.3A. Fourth, a franchiser may appoint an additional franchise in a community where a franchise of the same line-make is already represented, but only if the franchiser can show that there is "good cause" for appointing an additional dealership and that such appointment is in "public interest." *Id.* at § 322A.4.

Procedurally, Chapter 322A permits a franchiser to take any of the four proposed actions with the IDOT's approval. *Midwest Auto. III, LLC v.* 

Iowa Dep't of Transp., 646 N.W.2d 417, 423 (Iowa 2002). To obtain such approval, the franchiser must first file an application with the IDOT. See id. All four proposed actions require a franchiser to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence that good cause exist for its proposed action. See id. Such needs to happen during the contested hearing, held after the application is submitted to the IDOT. See id. If one of the parties to the contested case is dissatisfied with the ALJ's decision following the hearing, they may appeal to the IDOT. Iowa Code § 322A.17. The Department's decision is then the final agency action and may be appealed to the district court. Iowa Code § 322A.10; 17A.19. An adversely affected party to the judicial review may obtain a final judgment of the district curt by appeal. Iowa Code § 17A. 20. The appeal shall be taken as in other civil cases. Id.

# A. Under the relevant definition section, "community" refers to the entire 71-county AOR, not just the Clear Lake region.

In cases involving statutory interpretation, the analysis must always originate from the language of the statute itself. *State v. Shorter*, 935 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2020). "Only when the terms of a statute are ambiguous do courts engage in an analysis of legislative intent by applying rules of statutory construction." *Garwick v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., Motor Vehicle Div.*, 611 N.W.2d 286 (Iowa 2000). In the absence of ambiguity – if the statute's

meaning is clear—the judicial inquiry is complete. *See id; see also* Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 16 (2012) (describing interpretive canon: "Definition sections and interpretation clauses are to be carefully followed"); *see also Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Great Or.*, 515 U.S. 687, 697–98 & n.10 (1995) (invoking interpretive direction canon and ordinary meaning canon for definitional term "harm").

"When the legislature has defined words in a statute – that is, when the legislature has opted to 'act as its own lexicographer' – those definitions bind [the courts]." *State v. Fischer*, 785 N.W.2d 697, 702 (Iowa 2010); *see also Matter of Estate of Gantner*, 893 N.W.2d 896, 902 (Iowa 2017). On the contrary, only "when the legislature fails to include a statutory definition of a word . . . words in the statute are given their ordinary and common meaning by considering the context within which they are used." *Martinek v. Belmond-Klemme Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 760 N.W.2d 454, 457 (Iowa 2009). Especially relevant to the instant dispute: "when identical language is used several places in an enactment, it is given the same meaning." *Beier Glass Co. v. Brundige*, 329 N.W.2d 280, 286 (Iowa 1983).

Because the statutory definition of "community" is unambiguous, the trial court should not have engaged in a definitional construction. The term

"community" is defined explicitly in 322A.1 as "the franchisee's area of responsibility as stipulated in the franchise." Reasonable minds cannot disagree on the meaning this definition, which clearly requires readers to carry out two specific tasks: (1) review the relevant franchise agreement, and (2) find and acknowledge the specific territory granted to the franchisee therein. In this case, the relevant franchise agreement between Peterbilt and SCTS specifically designates a broad, 71-county AOR as the territory assigned to SCTS. Therefore, "community" must refer exclusively to the entire 71-county AOR, rather than narrower context-dependent subsets.

Because the legislature has specifically defined "community" and acted as its own lexicographer, the judicial analysis should conclude there. It was wholly inappropriate for the Department to supplement this definition with its own conclusions drawn from the context in which "community" is used. In light of the definition, the District Court was incorrect to substitute context for plain meaning. Moreover, since courts give identical words the same meaning when they are used in several places in an enactment, it is not enough that the district court concedes that "SCTS' 'community,' when viewed as a whole, refers to its entire 71 county AOR," – though it is unclear what the district court meant by "when viewed as a whole." Instead, the unambiguous language suggests that the legislature meant for each

application of word "community," including the ones in § 322A.4 and § 322A.16, to refer to the entire 71 county AOR. To radically constrict the notion of "community" to a narrow geographic area, when a supplied definition plainly suggests otherwise, does violence to the notion of statutory construction.

The Department concluded that employing a definition of "community" provided by the legislature would lead to an illogical reading of Iowa Code § 322A.16. But, because the legislature's explicit definition of "community" is unambiguous, neither Peterbilt nor the Department had grounds to twist "community's" scope to serve independent business or policy goals. Contrary to the Department's assertion, it is the district court's endorsement of the Department's substitute definition of "community" which leads to the strained interpretation of § 322A.16.

# B. The District Court's reading of modifiers "any" and "that" lacked sufficient basis to support its definition of "community."

The district court reasoned that the legislature used modifiers "any" and "that" before "community" to sharply qualify the meaning of "community" in § 332A.4 and "that community" in § 322A.16. Moreover, it asserted that those modifiers altered the "community" in those provisions to mean "portion of the franchisee's community that the franchiser is seeking

to appoint an additional dealer in." SCTS respectfully disagrees with this interpretation for two reasons. First, the modifiers "any" and "that" are used to specify "community" in a way different from that suggested by the district court. Second, the absence of a pattern for modifiers used before "community" made the district court's approach of singling out the two instances of § 322A.4 and § 322A.16 faulty.

i. The modifiers "any" and "that" are used to specify "community" in a way different from that suggested by the district court.

Iowa Code § 322A.4 states:

No franchiser shall enter into any franchise for the purpose of establishing an additional motor vehicle dealership in any community in which the same line-make is then represented, unless the franchiser has first established in a hearing held under the provisions of this chapter that there is good cause for such additional motor vehicle dealership under such franchise, and that it is in the public interest.

Without sufficient justification for definitional interpretation, the District Court found that "[a]s used, 'any community' would refer to any portion of an area of responsibility assigned under a governing franchise agreement." The statute explicitly defines "community" as "the franchisee's area of responsibility as stipulated in the franchise." The district court here attempts to use context to substantially narrow "any community" to mean "any portion of the community" without providing any reasoning for doing so.

Intra-textual analysis of the *un*defined terms and their modifiers – as contrasted with those the drafters chose to define – helps to illuminate the district court's error. In § 322A.4, the modifier "any" is also used before "franchise." There, it is clear that "any franchise" is referring to any contract – not *any portion of* a contract – between two or more persons, according to § 322A.1(5).

Under the statutory guidelines regarding requests for appointing an additional franchisee, the legislature used the term "that community" within five of the six guidelines. In its entirety, the Iowa Code section 322A.16 states:

In determining whether good cause has been established for entering into an additional franchise for the same line-make, the department of inspections and appeals shall take into consideration the existing circumstances, including, but not limited to:

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