**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

NO. 20-0837

IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
CASE NO CVCV058960

---

SIOUX CITY TRUCK SALES, INC., Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION and PETERBILT MOTORS  
COMPANY, Appellees

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR  
POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE JUDGE WILLIAM P. KELLY, PRESIDING

---

**APPELLEE PETERBILT MOTORS COMPANY'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Stephen E. Doohen  
Whitfield & Eddy, P.L.C.  
699 Walnut Street  
Suite 2000  
Des Moines, IA 50309  
Telephone: (515) 246-5550  
Facsimile: (515) 246-1474  
doohen@whitfieldlaw.com

Mark T. Clouatre (*pro hac vice*)  
John P. Streelman (*pro hac vice*)

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE ALJ, DEPARTMENT, AND DISTRICT COURT ALL APPLIED A CORRECT DEFINITION OF “COMMUNITY”**

#### a. Preservation for Appellate Review

Although not raised before the ALJ, *see* App. 1388, Peterbilt agrees this issue was preserved for appellate review through SCTS’s subsequent challenges.

#### b. Scope and Standard of Appellate Review

Peterbilt agrees that this challenge involves a matter of statutory construction. SCTS’s Brief (“Brief” or “Br.”) at 13. On appeal, this Court “appl[ies] the standards of chapter 17A to determine whether [it] reach[es] the same conclusions as the district court.” *Watson v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp. Motor Vehicle Div.*, 829 N.W.2d 566, 568 (Iowa 2013). In performing that analysis, the Court “may substitute [its] judgment de novo for the agency’s interpretation.” *Id.* at 569.

#### c. The Proper Community to Consider Under Section 322A.16 is the Proposed Franchisee’s Community

SCTS’s sole point of error in its Brief is that the ALJ, the Department, and the district court all erred by construing the relevant “community” to be that of the proposed dealer, Allstate, and not the entirety of SCTS’s contractual Area of Responsibility (“AOR”). SCTS then contends that this definitional error caused the district court’s review of the relevant good cause factors to be “defective,”

and that reversal is therefore warranted. Br. at 26–30. SCTS’s contentions are not persuasive and are belied by the language of the statute.

**1. The Department and the District Court Correctly Considered Context in Defining the Relevant Community**

SCTS begins its argument with the assertion that the district court erred by attempting to interpret the meaning of “community” in Section 322A.16 at all. Br. at 16–19. SCTS points to Section 322A.1, which states that “[c]ommunity” means the franchisee’s area of responsibility as stipulated in the franchise,” and argues that “[b]ecause the statutory definition of ‘community’ is unambiguous, the trial court should not have engaged in a definitional construction.” *Id.* at 17. This argument is wrong for two reasons.

First, SCTS fails to acknowledge that Section 322A.1 states explicitly that its definitions only apply “unless the context otherwise requires.” Iowa Code § 322A.1. Thus, even assuming *arguendo* the definition of community was unambiguous, the district court was still expressly required to determine whether context requires the definition to be varied in this particular case. *See App. 1571* (“[A]s the legislature and Iowa Supreme Court *require* consideration of the context in which the term ‘community’ is used this Court must analyze the portions of Chapter 322A related to ‘good cause’ and the ‘public interest.’”)

(emphasis added). This statutory requirement renders SCTS’s cited cases and argument regarding ambiguity inapposite. Br. at 16–18.

Second, SCTS skips a critical step of the analysis. Although SCTS acknowledges that the community at issue belongs to the “relevant franchise agreement,” it assumes without argument or support that the “relevant” agreement must be that of SCTS itself. *Id.* at 18. There is no basis for this assumption. Section 322A.16 refers to “that community,” but it does *not* define the relevant “community” as that of the *protesting* dealer. In fact, “[n]o provision of Chapter 322A clarifies what is meant by ‘that community.’” App. 1572. On its face then, “that community,” even when read with the legislature’s definition (“franchisee’s area of responsibility as stipulated in the franchise”), is ambiguous. The “franchisee” in question could be either the *protesting* dealer (SCTS) or the *proposed* dealer (Allstate).

The district court therefore correctly engaged in statutory construction in order to determine what the legislature meant by “that community.” This was a reasonable and necessary determination to make in light of the statutory ambiguity, and it aligns with the legislature’s requirement that the district court consider “context” when applying the statutory definitions. Iowa Code § 322A.1. SCTS’s argument that the district court should have instead ignored this ambiguity—and all context—and simply found in SCTS’s favor is not

persuasive. It does not do “violence to the notion of statutory construction” to construe an unclear statute. Br. at 19.

## **2. The Relevant “Community” is the Proposed Dealer’s Area of Responsibility**

Once Section 322A.16 and Chapter 322A are construed in context, it is clear that SCTS’s community is not the one at issue. The ALJ, the Department, and the district court all correctly determined that the community at issue is instead that of the *proposed* dealer, Allstate, not the protesting dealer, SCTS. *See* App. 1372 (ALJ Decision); App. 1387 (DOT Decision); App. 1573–74 (Ruling). SCTS has failed to meet its burden to show why these multiple independent determinations should be overturned.

The analysis begins with the fact that the context surrounding “community” in Section 322A.4 (the statute granting protest rights to dealers) differs from the context surrounding “community” in Section 322A.16 (the good cause statute). Section 322A.4 states:

No franchiser shall enter into any franchise for the purpose of establishing an additional motor vehicle dealership *in any community in which the same line-make is then represented*, unless the franchiser has first established in a hearing held under the provisions of this chapter that there is good cause for such additional motor vehicle dealership under such franchise, and that it is in the public interest.

Iowa Code § 322A.4 (emphasis added). The statute here refers to *any* community in which the same line-make is then represented. The statutory goal is to ensure that an existing dealer can protest any establishment proposed in its assigned area of responsibility, which is what SCTS did here.

However, the good cause factors in Section 322A.16 use different language.<sup>2</sup> Consider factor one: “Amount of business transacted by *other franchisees* of the same line-make in *that community*.” Iowa Code § 322A.16(1) (emphasis added). This factor does not consider all business conducted more broadly in “any community in which the same line-make is then represented,” as Section 322A.4 does. Instead, this factor looks to the business conducted in “that” community.

Section 322A.16 does not define which community is “that” community, but the only plausible interpretation is that it is referring to the proposed community of the proposed franchisee (here Allstate), which is what the Department and the district court both determined. If the “community” was that of the existing dealer, there would be no reason to refer to its community at all.

---

<sup>2</sup> In a particularly confusing series of paragraphs, SCTS asserts that there is no “pattern” to how “noun identifiers” are used in Chapter 322A, but fails to explain why that means its own community must be the one at issue. Br. at 23–26. It is also unclear why SCTS believes it was Peterbilt’s role to make arguments to the Department on behalf of SCTS. *Id.* at 25.



The factor could simply consider any business conducted by that dealer; the reference to the community is redundant. Alternatively, the legislature could have specified the “protesting dealer’s community” to remove any doubt.

Furthermore, because the statute only considers business conducted by “other” franchisees, the franchisee being analyzed must not be the existing dealer (SCTS). Otherwise, the statute would preclude consideration of business by that resident dealer, and instead consider only business conducted by *other* franchisees in the resident dealer’s community. Accordingly, a dealer achieving record volume sales would be unable to present any evidence of that fact when protesting a proposed establishment right next door, while a manufacturer would be unable to present evidence that the existing dealer is failing to cover its market. Such an incongruous outcome cannot have been the intent of the legislature.

However, the statutory language makes perfect sense if the community at issue is that of the proposed dealer. Under this interpretation, the reference to “other” dealers is no longer limiting, but instead comprehends both the resident dealer and any same-brand competitor selling in that area. The dealer achieving record sales now has an avenue to establish that fact, and conversely, a manufacturer can show that the existing dealer is failing to cover its assigned market portion, as was true here. These are some of the primary considerations in determining whether another dealership is warranted.

This interpretation also makes far more sense within the context of this case, because the thrust of Peterbilt’s application related to the need for service in Clear Lake, not new trucks or parts. However, even when considering all types of business, it makes little sense to consider them in SCTS’s entire AOR. SCTS’s parts sales in Council Bluffs, or a competing dealer’s new truck sales in Lincoln, Nebraska—both within SCTS’s AOR—does not help determine whether a new point is warranted in Clear Lake, Iowa. As the Department explained, SCTS’s definition of “community” cannot be correct because using that definition “would lead to the illogical conclusion that service and investment in disparate areas of the AOR somehow equate to service and investment in the area in question, which contradicts SCTS’s own admission that the Clear Lake area is not adequately served for parts and service despite its activities and investment throughout its existing AOR.” App. 1387 n.1.

SCTS’s approach, by contrast, counts any business it transacts, anywhere, in its own favor. This approach does nothing more than reward dealer groups for having numerous locations, even if, like SCTS here, they spend nothing in the community under analysis. App. 1387. Further, it means that customers in Clear Lake could remain without an authorized service point because SCTS sold more parts than usual in Nebraska. This defeats the purpose of the legislation, which is to “ensure that consumers retain continued access to dealer service” in Iowa.

*Craig Foster Ford, Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Trans.*, 562 N.W.2d 618, 622 (Iowa 1997).

Again, instead of looking at SCTS's entire AOR, it makes far more sense to consider the business transacted in the proposed dealer's area. By doing so, the focus becomes whether the existing dealer is adequately covering the subject area or whether there is, as here, a hole in the market. It also becomes possible to examine whether a new dealer establishment may harm the incumbent dealer, perhaps because it is transacting large amounts of sales into the area already. In short, it puts both the existing and proposed dealer on the same footing. Indeed, the Department found that the good cause consideration "can only be meaningful if the community is defined in the same way for both entities, as SCTS' entire AOR/community is not subject to dual assignment." App. 1556 (quoting App. 1387 (DOT Decision)).

For all of these reasons, the ALJ, Department, and district court were correct to hold that the relevant community in the good cause determination is that of the proposed dealer, not the existing dealer.

### **3. SCTS Fails to Prove That Its Own Community Must Be the Community Addressed By Section 322A.16**

SCTS largely avoids discussing the logical consequences that would flow if its own definition of "community" was used. Instead, it creates a strawman

argument—asserting that the district court used context to “substantially narrow ‘any community’ to mean ‘*any portion of the community*’ without providing any reasoning for doing so.” Br. at 20. This is incorrect on several levels.

First, although the district court did refer to “portion[s] of” SCTS’s community, App. 1573, it did not divide SCTS’s community *per se*. Rather, the district court held that the correct community was the area “the franchiser is seeking to appoint an additional dealer in,” *i.e.*, the community of the proposed dealer. *Id.* The district court repeated this several times. *See id.* (“the restrictive ‘community’ served is the area being considered for dual assignment, or ‘that community’”); App. 1574 (“The IDOT was correct in defining the relevant community as the proposed dealer’s area of responsibility. . . .”). It is not that the district court subdivided SCTS’s community to make the good cause determination, but rather that only a portion of SCTS’s community overlaps with the area in which the good cause determination must be made.

Second, SCTS is wrong that the district court did not “provid[e] any reasoning.” Br. at 20. The district court in fact engaged in a detailed analysis of the statute, considering both the words used and their grammatical purpose. App. 1572–74. The district court determined that it could not ignore the legislature’s use of “that community”—as opposed to, *e.g.*, “the protesting dealer’s community”—or the limitations implied by that restrictive relative clause. App.

1572. It also discussed the purpose of Chapter 322A, as well as the fact that “the citizens or ‘community’ members the Statute exists to protect would be those who are affected by the appointment of an additional dealer.” App. 1573. This was sufficient explanation for the district court’s decision, and SCTS’s challenge fails.

Similarly meritless is SCTS’s hyperbolic, “slippery slope” argument that the Department could “re-frame the community of reference as a city block or an entire nation.” Br. at 22. Contrary to SCTS’s claims, the Department did not narrow or “arbitrarily constrict[.]” SCTS’s community—it looked at a different community altogether. *Id.* at 23. There is no danger of a slippery slope here; SCTS simply cannot accept that the statute takes into account a community other than its own.

As a final matter, SCTS does not cite a single case that actually supports its preferred reading. Br. at 20–26. In fact, aside from cases relating to general principles of statutory construction and the purpose of Chapter 322A, SCTS does not cite *any* cases in support of its position, at all. *Id.* at 13–31. The failure to cite supporting authority is an independent basis to deny SCTS’s appeal. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3)* (“Failure to cite authority in support of an issue may be deemed waiver of that issue.”).

d. SCTS Fails to Show Error in the District Court’s Evaluation of the Section 322A.16 Guidelines

Despite having failed to prove that the district court applied the wrong “community,” SCTS argues that this purported error renders the good cause analysis “defective.” Br. at 26. However, SCTS’s analysis of the Section 322A.16 guidelines, also known as the “good cause factors,” does not reveal any errors in the district court’s analysis.

As an initial matter, even assuming *arguendo* that the wrong community was used—which it was not—SCTS has not established it was injured by that definition. Simply asserting that the wrong community was used is not enough; SCTS must go further to show that applying its preferred definition would change the outcome of the case. “[A]n agency’s action should not be tampered with unless the complaining party has in fact been harmed.” *City of Des Moines v. Pub. Emp’t Relations Bd.*, 275 N.W.2d 753, 759 (Iowa 1979). Thus, SCTS must point to record evidence that was ignored or overlooked due to the Department’s and district court’s purportedly incorrect definition of community in order to succeed on appeal.

SCTS does not even attempt to make such a showing. In fact, other than a stray reference to the ALJ Decision, it does not provide a single citation to record evidence *at all*. Br. at 26–31. This is because there is no evidence being ignored;

SCTS’s protest barely even addressed the good cause factors. *See, e.g.*, App. 1375 (ALJ Decision) (“As a word search of [SCTS’s] brief does not reveal the existence of the key statutory phrase ‘good cause’ and only one fleeting reference to ‘public interest’ on the eighth-sixth page in the conclusion section, it is unclear the extent to which [SCTS] is challenging that the requirements of Iowa Code section 322A.4 have been met.”).

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